The sole responsibility for the content published on this document lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the Innovation and Networks Executive Agency (INEA) or the European Commission (EC). INEA or the EC are not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

WP3 Optimal Planning Tools for Transmission and Distribution Systems Specification of the Planning Tools

D3.1



DOCUMENT CONTROL PAGE

D3.1 – Specifications of the Planning Tools	
Report	
Public	
30 / 06 / 2021	
30 / 06 / 2021	
V1.0	
University of Manchester	
Dr Wangwei Kong, Dr Andrey Churkin, Dr Jose Nicolas Melchor Gutierrez, Micael Filipe Simões, Dr Eduardo Alejandro Martínez Ceseña, Prof Pierluigi Mancarella	
Reviewer names	

DOCUMENT HISTORY

VERSION	Authors	Date	Changes
0.1	Dr Wangwei Kong ¹ , Dr Andrey Churkin ¹ , Dr Jose Nicolas Melchor Gutierrez ¹ ¹ University of Manchester	25 / 05 / 2021	Initial structure of the report and contents (excluding contents relevant to T3.3)
0.3	Micael Filipe Simões ² ² INESC	04 / 06 / 2021	Initial structure of the report and contents relevant to T3.3
0.8	Dr Eduardo Alejandro Martínez Ceseña ¹ ¹ University of Manchester	14/06/2021	Comments and minor changes for internal review
0.8.1	Dr Carlos Mateo Domingo ³ ³ Universidad Pontificia Comillas	18/06/2021	Internal review for the full document
0.8.2	Dr Hrvoje Keko ⁴ ⁴ KONČAR - KET	24/06/2021	Internal review for the full document
0.9	Dr Wangwei Kong ¹ , Dr Andrey Churkin ¹ , Dr Jose Nicolas Melchor Gutierrez ¹ , Dr Eduardo Alejandro Martínez Ceseña ¹ , Micael Filipe Simões ² ¹ University of Manchester ² INESC	29 / 06 / 2021	Revision based on comments
1.0	Dr Wangwei Kong ¹ , Dr Andrey Churkin ¹ , Dr Jose Nicolas Melchor Gutierrez ¹ , Dr Eduardo Alejandro Martínez Ceseña ¹ , Prof Pierluigi Mancarella ¹ , Micael Filipe Simões ² ¹ University of Manchester ² INESC	30 / 06/ 2021	Editorial modification throughout the document

Table of Contents

1. Executive summary	7
2. INTRODUCTION	8
2.1. ATTEST project	8
2.2. Optimal design and planning tools for transmission and distribution systems (WP3)	8
2.3. Description of the tools	8
2.4. Structure of the report	10
3. TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION NETWORK PLANNING: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND CURRENT PRACTICE.	11
3.1. Transmission network planning	11
3.2. Distribution network planning	13
3.3. Optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies	14
3.3.1. Energy Storage System Technologies	15
3.3.2. Energy Storage Planning	16
3.3.3. Co-Optimisation of Energy Storage Systems	18
3.3.4. Co-optimisation in the Power Systems Domain considering ESSs	19
3.3.5. Final remarks	19
4. OPTIMISATION TOOL FOR DISTRIBUTION NETWORK PLANNING (TASK 3.1)	20
4.1. Functional description	20
4.2. Technical description	20
4.2.1. Input data	21
4.2.2. Initialization	21
4.2.3. Optimisation model	22
4.3. Input and output requirements	23
4.3.1. Input data	23
4.3.2. Output data	24
4.4. Computational requirements	25
4.5. Interactions with other tools	26
5. Optimisation tool for transmission network planning (Task 3.2)	28
5.1. Functional description	28
5.2. Technical description	28
5.2.1. Stage 1: screening model:	30
5.2.2. Stage 2: investment model	31
5.2.3. Stage 3: Operation model	31
5.3. Input and output requirements	32
5.3.1. Input data	32

	WP3
5.3.2. Output data	33
5.4. Computational requirements	34
5.5. Interactions with other tools	35
6. OPTIMISATION TOOL FOR PLANNING TSO/DSO SHARED TECHNOLOGIES (TASK 3.3)	37
6.1. Functional Description	37
6.2. Technical Description	37
6.2.1. Initialization	
6.2.2. Optimisation model	
6.3. Input and Output Requirements	40
6.3.1. General Inputs	40
6.3.2. General Outputs	40
6.3.3. Stage 1: Estimation of the flexibility available at the distribution level	40
6.3.3.1. Input data	40
6.3.3.2. Output data	41
6.3.4. Stage 2: Co-Optimisation of Shared TSO-DSO resources	41
6.3.4.1. Input data	41
6.3.4.2. Output data	42
6.4. Computational Requirements	42
6.5. Interactions with Other Tools	43
7. CONCLUDING REMARKS	44
8. References	45
9. Annex	50
9.1. Annex 1 Examples for data inputs	50
9.2. Annex 2 Examples for flexibility data format	52
9.3. Annex 3 Data inputs and outputs for each stage of T3.2	54

List of Figures

Figure 1 – Energy storage systems. Linearization of the lifecycle as a function of the depth of discharge	e.
Source: [14]	.6
Figure 2 – Battery capacity decrease curve considering the stress factor coefficients and mathematic	al
modelling of [65]. Source: [64]1	.7
Figure 3: Flowchart of the methodology for the T3.12	21
Figure 4: Interactions of tool T3.1 with other ATTEST tools	27
Figure 5: Flowchart of the methodology for the T3.22	29
Figure 6: Interactions of tool T3.2 with other ATTEST tools	6
Figure 7: TSO-DSO shared resource planning tool. Flowchart of the methodology	88
Figure 8: TSO-DSO shared resource planning tool. Example output of the first stage. representation of	of
the flexibility available in a distribution network	39
Figure 9: TSO-DSO shared resource planning tool. Interactions among the tools	13

List of Tables

Table 1: Distribution network test cases developed in T3.1	20
Table 2: Inputs for the T3.1	24
Table 3: Outputs of the T3.1	24
Table 4: Transmission network test cases developed in T3.2	
Table 5: Inputs for the T3.2	
Table 6: Outputs of the T3.2	
Table 7: Shared resource planning (task 3.3). Inputs for stage 1	40
Table 8: Shared resource planning (task 3.3). Outputs of stage 1	41
Table 9: Shared resource planning (task 3.3). Inputs for stage 2	41
Table 10: Shared resource planning (task 3.3). Outputs of the planning tool	
Table 11: Inputs for stage 1 of T3.2	54
Table 12: Inputs for stage 2 of T3.2	54
Table 13: Inputs for stage 3 of T3.2	55
Table 14: Outputs of stage 1 of T3.2	55
Table 15: Outputs of stage 2 of T3.2	56
Table 16: Outputs of stage 3 of T3.2	

Abbreviations and Acronyms

ACRONYM / ABBREVIATION	Extensive form
AC	Alternating Current
AC OPF	Alternating Current Optimal Power Flow
ADMM	Alternating Direction Method of Multipliers
DC	Direct Current
DC OPF	Direct Current Optimal Power Flow
DER	Distributed Energy Resource
DSO	Distribution System Operator
EV	Electric Vehicle
ESS	Energy Storage System
IRR	Internal Rate of Return
LP	Linear Programming
MILP	Mixed Integer Linear Programming
NPC	Net Present Cost
RES	Renewable Energy Sources
ROI	Return On Investment
SC	Security-Constrained
TSO	Transmission System Operator
WP	Work Package

1. Executive summary

The energy system is evolving to meet the target of net-zero carbon emissions. This involves both energy transition to low carbon and renewable energy source and increasing adoption of automation, regulation and data collection to enable flexible services. Thus, it imposes great technical and economic challenges for the operation and planning of future energy systems. The ATTEST project aims to solve some of those challenges by developing an open-source toolbox comprising a suite of innovative tools to support TSOs / DSOs synergic operation, optimal maintenance of assets and coordinated planning of both transmission and distribution systems for 2030 and beyond.

This document presents deliverable D3.1 "Specification of the planning tools", which provides a general description of the different tools that are being developed within WP3, namely:

- Task 3.1: Optimisation tool for distribution network planning
- Task 3.2: Optimisation tool for transmission network planning
- Task 3.3: Optimisation fool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies.

A functional and a technical description is provided for every tool, as well as inputs and outputs, computational requirements and interactions with other tools within ATTEST. This information is meant to provide a high-level overview of the current (preliminary) versions of the different tools and their main data inputs and outputs. The specific characteristics of the final versions of the tools, including various examples, will be provided in the next deliverable.

2. Introduction

In D3.1, an adaptive transmission and distribution system planning tool that facilitates the social and economic development of different regions within the power system under analysis is being developed. The tool accounts for uncertainties associated with regions within the system that may evolve differently from the rest. In this context, the transmission system would not only be planned to meet security needs, but also to exploit the use of emerging smart technologies and markets for both DSO and TSO.

2.1. ATTEST project

The objective of the ATTEST project is to develop a modular open-source toolbox comprising a suite of innovative tools to support TSOs / DSOs synergic operation, optimal maintenance of assets and coordinated planning of both transmission and distribution systems for 2030 and beyond, considering technical, economic and environmental aspects.

2.2. Optimal design and planning tools for transmission and distribution systems (WP3)

The aim of WP3 in the ATTEST project is to develop new investment planning tools for electrical distribution and transmission networks that support (and benefit from) emerging DSO and TSO markets and technologies. The planning tools model the flexibility which is aggregated from smart multi-energy customers to trade services, including network supports, in the different markets. Unlike traditional congestion-driven network reinforcements, ATTEST framework for planning also considers the use of demand-side flexibility for new business cases to extract the maximum value from the trade of flexibility through the TSO/DSO interface, e.g., market and active network management services.

The main objectives to be achieved include:

- Development of a flexible distribution network planning optimisation tool capable of addressing the integration of demand-side flexibility and its use by smart customers to partake in different DSO and TSO markets (e.g., trade of ancillary services to support the system and non-asset-based solutions to defer network investments).
- To develop a transmission expansion planning optimisation tool that considers the use of flexibility from emerging bulk generation technologies (e.g., storage) in combination with support from the demand side.
- To develop sophisticated tools to optimise the location and size of smart grid technologies that can provide valuable services at both distribution and transmission levels.

2.3. Description of the tools

The tools presented in this document are optimisation tools that support the TSOs and DSOs in planning the transmission and distribution networks considering flexibility from the markets.

The proposed distribution network optimisation tool is developed based on the stochastic formulation (non-recombining scenario trees) combined with a simulation-based optimisation framework to produce adaptive path-dependent network reinforcement strategies. The framework involves the application of investment optimisation and simulation algorithms. The optimisation model will utilise a recursive algorithm to optimise investment alternatives through different inter-dependent future scenarios (e.g., demand growth, integration of low carbon technologies, etc.) and considering asset degradation (modelled with the indices developed in WP5). The outcomes are flexible, adaptive investment strategies that seamlessly allow the network to be customised, for example through staged investment in hybrid portfolios of asset and non-asset-based solutions, in response to uncertain future change. The robustness of the investment strategies will be validated with relevant operation tools (developed in WP4) in an uncertain context (e.g., selected futures and Monte Carlo simulation) in terms of different economic, e.g., net present cost (NPC) and internal rate of return (IRR), and risk analysis such as minimax regret, value at risk criteria.

The proposed transmission network planning tool uses a three-stage scenario-based stochastic optimisation formulation. The first stage is a screening model. The screening model is a low-resolution deterministic transmission network investment optimisation model, which captures the flexibility of smart customers (modelled using the energy hub approach developed in T2.5) to partake in different TSO and DSO market environments (taken from T2.4 and T2.6) while also meeting the boundary technical requirements of other networks (e.g., gas and district heating considered in T2.5). The outputs of the screening model are used to produce a reduced set of investment alternatives that will inform the investment optimisation model. At the second stage, an adaptive master investment model optimises the location and size of the new assets and non-asset-based solutions based on long-term (yearly) uncertainties and a simplified linear representation of system operation in the context of specific DSO and TSO market conditions (defined in T2.4). At the third stage, a fast stochastic operational model (bespoke model that captures the complexity of the tools developed in WP4) identifies worst-case conditions considering short-term (e.g., hourly) operational uncertainties linked to the long-term (e.g., yearly) scenarios and investments proposed by the master model. The outputs of the operational model are then used to update the planning mathematical model within the master model. The models are solved iteratively to produce adaptive network investment planning strategies that explicitly model impacts at the operational stage and take advantage of demand-side flexibility traded in the different markets. The available operational flexibility to provide transmission network support will also be affected by the conditions of the distribution network defined in T2.5 and T3.1.

The objective of the shared resource planning tool is to develop an optimal investment plan in energy storage systems that can simultaneously provide services to the transmission and distribution sides of the network. The tool will be developed from the perspective of a third-party investor, the energy storage owner, and the outcome is an adaptive investment plan in energy storage systems to be installed or upgraded at the boundary points between the transmission and distribution networks. The tool will receive as inputs the optimal reinforcement plans in distribution and transmission networks (from T3.1 and T3.2, respectively) while considering the TSO-DSO coordination mechanism selected for the ATTEST project, defined in T2.4. The tool will recur to distributed optimisation concepts to reflect the interests, preserve the data privacy of the several parties involved in the planning process, and keep the tractability of the planning problem. Furthermore, to accurately reflect the degradation of battery energy storage systems' health, an accurate degradation model will be considered in the planning process. To reflect the uncertainty associated with future scenarios, stochastic programming will be used. The proposed framework is based on two main stages. At the first stage, an assessment of the flexibility that the DSOs can provide, without jeopardizing the operation of their own network, is performed. At the second stage, the optimal investment plan in energy storage systems is determined, considering the flexibility boundaries determined at the first stage. The second stage consists of an

iterative process, based on the alternating direction method of multipliers, that will produce the optimal investment plan in shared energy storage systems.

2.4. Structure of the report

The rest of the document is structured as follows:

- Section 3 performs the literature survey of the network planning in the transmission and distribution networks.
- Section 4 describes the adaptive distribution network planning tool.
- Section 5 presents the adaptive transmission network reinforcement planning.
- Section 6 presents the specification of the optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies.
- Section 7 concludes the deliverable.

3. Transmission and distribution network planning: Theoretical background and current practice

Before introducing the network planning tools, it is worth describing the background of power systems expansion and reinforcement planning and distinguishing the features of the planning tasks in transmission and distribution networks. It is also important to define the role of flexibility at the TSO/DSO interface from flexible distributed energy resources, demand-side response, and other technologies. There is extensive literature on power systems expansion planning, with the first mathematical algorithms being developed in the 1960s. Since then, numerous novel formulations and applications have been developed to enhance existing tools (e.g., improving accuracy) and address emerging conditions (e.g., integration of renewable energy sources). According to the Scopus database, at least 2.100 publications explicitly focus on transmission expansion planning, and about 900 studies are dedicated to planning problems in distribution networks.

This section covers the general background and current practice in expansion planning at both transmission and distribution levels. Then, the need for TSO-DSO interactions and ways of coordination in planning are discussed.

3.1. Transmission network planning

Network planning is an essential task that enables meeting the growing electricity demand and ensuring efficient and secure operation of power systems. This task is especially important for transmission networks that form the backbone of electrical grids. Transmission networks are characterized by high voltage levels, long-distance transmission, and high-capacity generators and consumers connected. Historically, these large-size networks were developed to transport a large amount of power over long distances. For example, power can be transported between remote generators (wind parks, hydropower plants, etc.) and cities. Thus, transmission networks cover a major part of some countries and continents. Due to the large size of the generators and loads connected to these systems, transmission networks are designed meshed to provide high service reliability through redundancy, i.e., there exist parallel lines and loops. Finally, transmission networks usually have a high level of controllability and observability, which enables TSOs to effectively operate networks while maintaining their stability. To perform the network planning process, TSOs rely on engineering experience and transmission planning tools.¹ As an input, these tools require information on power systems, such as network models, demand profiles, investment costs, etc. Then, a series of calculations is performed, e.g., system operation simulations, maximisation of reliability, minimisation of costs, etc. The output is provided in terms of an optimal combination of the predefined expansion decisions, for example, recommended new lines or reinforcements, investments in non-asset-based solutions.

Significant progress has been achieved in developing transmission planning tools, models, and algorithms [1]–[5]. However, despite the level of complexity and differences in the formulations and applications, existing planning models follow the same principles: to supply power demand efficiently while satisfying technical constraints and reliability criteria. In general, transmission network planning addresses the energy trilemma challenges. That is, the optimal plan should have a reasonable balance between energy security, energy affordability, and environmental sustainability. A common approach used to develop transmission planning models is mathematical programming (sometimes simply referred to as optimisation models). Existing optimisation models can be applied to minimise the

¹ Additionally, TSOs have to meet regional electricity infrastructure development plans, such as Europe's ten-year network development plans developed by ENTSO-E.

operating and investment costs of power systems or maximise social welfare. However, the computational costs of these tools and the ability to guarantee the optimality of solutions are affected by the types of equations and variables used in the problem formulations. For example, the inherent power transmission physics, when modelled in detail, can make these models complex, non-linear, and non-convex. Moreover, the problems become more computationally expensive and difficult to solve with the inclusion of binary decision variables (i.e., mixed-integer problems), such as the variables used to model investment decisions and unit commitment. Thus, transmission expansion planning is usually characterized as mixed-integer non-linear problems, which are in general hard to solve. To address this issue, there is significant work on simplifying the formulation of the planning problem (at the expense of reducing accuracy), without greatly compromising the accuracy of the models. For example, the relaxations and approximations of the power flow equations can be used to simplify the planning problem [6]. In this regard, the proposed transmission network planning tool divides the planning problem into three stages. The first two modelling stages, the screening and investment models, are based on the linearised DC OPF approximation. These linear formulations guarantee convergence of the planning model. Then, the nonlinear AC OPF model is introduced at the third stage to verify the feasibility of the transmission expansion plan.

However, transmission network planning tools have been challenged by recent changes in the power sector. First, the deregulation and liberalization of power systems made a significant impact on transmission expansion planning [7]. The emergence of electricity markets, new business models of generating companies and retailers, unbundling of TSOs and DSOs challenged traditional transmission planning practices. Thus, common centralized optimisation approaches have been augmented by decentralized optimisation and game-theoretic models. Second, a major impact on the planning tools has been made by the penetration of renewables and distributed energy resources. The new power units with less controllable and more intermittent energy production posed additional challenges to the planning, control, and operation of power systems. Therefore, the effectiveness of stochastic and robust optimisation has been widely acknowledged in transmission planning [8], [9]. Moreover, the distributed energy resources and active distribution networks bring an additional source of uncertainty that has to be incorporated in the planning models [10]. Considering the aforementioned challenges, the security of power supply and power system operation becomes the primary goal of transmission expansion planning. Within the planning models, security is often defined by the contingency analysis and the N-1 criterion, which means that a transmission plan must be robust against any single possible contingency [11]. The contingency analysis is based on SC OPF formulations involving multiple postcontingency states, which results in a challenging computationally hard problem [12].

The increasing amount of DER capacity connected to distribution networks made it possible to provide additional services for transmission networks. The value of such flexibility services provided by active distribution networks and the importance of TSO-DSO interactions have recently been acknowledged. However, the lack of coordination between TSO and DSO can result in contradictory actions at transmission and distribution levels that hamper the provision of flexibility. Therefore, several concepts have been developed to enable TSO-DSO coordination [13]–[19]. The flexibility market between TSO and DSO could provide new additional non-asset-based solutions for transmission network planning. In the simple form of coordination, DSO provides a range of flexible power available at the TSO-DSO interface. Then, TSO can request specific feasible power support from DSO. The developed transmission network planning tools enable information exchange between DSO and TSO to fully exploit the flexibility of active distribution networks and improve planning and operation at the transmission level.

The tools described in this report follow the best practices in transmission network planning and address the mentioned challenges by incorporating several modelling techniques and approaches. A

three-stage scenario-based stochastic optimisation formulation is proposed to minimise the network reinforcement cost and the cost of operation. To minimise the computational burden, the tool decomposes the planning problem into the investment and operation models. It also utilizes a screening model to identify and pre-select potentially attractive candidate investments. To account for the flexibility services provided by DSO, the transmission network planning tool includes available flexible power support at the TSO-DSO interfaces. In view of uncertainties influencing the operation of transmission networks, a stochastic operational model is formulated to identify possible worst-case short-term conditions and related long-term scenarios. Finally, to meet the N-1 security of transmission network operation, the investment model is complemented with the SC AC OPF analysis that enables identifying network binding constraints with respect to possible contingencies.

3.2. Distribution network planning

As opposed to transmission networks, which transport power through great distances (e.g., from the location of bulk generation to the cities), the role of the distribution networks is to distribute the energy across an area (e.g., within a city). As a result, distribution networks are usually characterized by medium and low voltage levels², short-distance transmission, and extensive usage of underground cable distribution systems. It follows that distribution networks are small- and medium-size networks that cover certain districts or cities. However, distribution networks have a large number of smaller loads and distributed generators connected as well as low carbon technologies integrated such as electric vehicles and energy storage. Since investing in redundancy is less cost-effective due to the smaller size of the customers connected at any point of a system, distribution networks are generally radial or weakly meshed, i.e., there exist very few parallel lines and loops. The power flows have historically been mainly unidirectional. They are directed from energy sources towards consumers, whose consumption and demand growth are relatively predictable in aggregated terms. But, due to a large number of substations and feeders and the lack of sensors and communication systems, distribution networks usually have a low level of controllability and observability.

Even though the planning tasks for distribution and transmission networks follow the same planning principles, i.e., meeting the demand growth in the most economical, reliable, and safe manner possible, the distribution network planning evolved into a separate research direction that fully accounts for the features of distribution grids [20]. Traditional distribution network planning focused on the reinforcement of feeders, the expansion of substations, and the installation of new network assets. These planning tasks required straightforward optimisation models: demand forecast must be met timely subject to voltage constraints and congestion management. Moreover, the radial topology of distribution networks and unidirectional power flows enabled using simplified OPF equations for radial grids [21]. Similar to transmission planning, distribution network planning is inherently a mixed-integer non-linear problem [22], [23]. The objective functions of existing optimisation models usually minimise investment and operation costs, power losses, and the cost of flexibility services. The constraints comprise power flow equations, technical limits of distribution networks, and security criteria. To solve such optimisation problems, various methods have been adopted in the literature including deterministic and heuristic algorithms as well as relaxation and approximation techniques.

 $^{^2}$ In some cases, high voltage networks can be a part of distribution networks that cover large areas. But, in general, distribution networks are built in the vicinity of consumers, which enables supplying them at medium and low voltage.

However, the rapid growth of distributed energy resources, distributed storage, development of demand response programs, and adoption of smart monitoring, information, and communication technologies provided additional capabilities for distribution networks. It is now widely recognized that active distribution networks can exploit flexible resources, which allows achieving optimal operational and planning solutions with significant cost savings [20], [24]. But, to achieve efficiency and flexibility improvement, distribution networks require intelligent control and coordination of large numbers of DERs and demand response providers. Therefore, the concepts of DER, EV, and prosumers aggregators as well as the virtual power plant concept have been developed to capture the controllability and flexibility of active distribution networks [25]–[27]. The uncertainties related to DERs pose additional challenges to distribution network planning. Modern active distribution networks use advanced communication technologies to control generation availability, energy storage, and bidirectional power flows, and perform demand-side management. Thus, incorporating uncertainties becomes essential for distribution network planning tools [10], [28]–[31].

The flexibility of active distribution networks can also be captured by ancillary services provided by DSO to TSO. Several concepts have been recently developed to propose TSO-DSO coordination schemes and flexibility markets [13]–[19]. The common practice of evaluating distribution network flexibility services lies in estimating active and reactive power capability ranges at the TSO-DSO interface. The early studies relied on Monte Carlo simulations to illustrate the availability and cost of the flexible active and reactive power provided by distribution networks [32]. Then, more advanced DSO flexibility range assessment techniques and probabilistic capability charts were developed [33]–[39]. The TSO-DSO coordination and flexibility services provision is usually considered from the DSO's point of view. That is, it is assumed that TSO could request a specific active/reactive power operation point or specific voltage level at the TSO-DSO interface. DSO, in its turn, needs to analyse the availability of its resources as well as the technical constraints and reply to this request. DSO is also in charge of arranging contracts with distributed generators and imposing bands on their reactive power provision. It has recently been demonstrated that flexibility provided by a distribution network can be compared to that desired by a transmission network to estimate the power support adequacy at the TSO-DSO interface [40].

The distribution network planning tool presented in this report comprises advanced modelling techniques for distribution expansion planning. Specifically, multi-stage stochastic optimisation models are used to enable exploiting the potential of flexibility resources. The information on the available flexible power at the TSO-DSO interface nodes is passed to the transmission network planning tool to further improve the planning efficiency and flexibility at the transmission level. The proposed distribution network planning tool is based on the stochastic formulation (non-recombining scenario trees) combined with a simulation-based optimisation framework to produce adaptive path-dependent network reinforcement strategies. The tool is straightforward for DSO to implement. One of the major challenges of network planning is the computation cost which could be expensive considering the potentially massive number of investments under uncertain future conditions. To tackle this challenge, the proposed distribution network planning tool adopts a recursive algorithm for optimisation. The recursive function considers a reduced search space by terminating all infeasible investment strategies. Thus, the computation time is minimised compared to a full exhaustive search.

3.3. Optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies

Electric power systems are currently experiencing a profound change, as increasing amounts of Renewable Energy Sources (RESs) displace conventional forms of generation. This development has gone hand-in-hand with an expanding share of power production taking place at the distribution level,

the connection of new types of DERs – such as Energy Storage Systems (ESSs) and Electric Vehicles (EVs) –, and active consumers, who have started to actively participate in the market, either by taking on the role of producer-consumer ("prosumer") or by engaging in Demand Response (DR) programs. These trends are expected to continue and will require a profound revision of the way TSOs and DSOs interact with each other [41].

Traditionally, transmission and distribution systems have been independently managed by TSO and DSOs, respectively, based on oversimplified models regarding each other's network [18]. Demand has been supplied by large-scale generating units connected to the transmission level, thereby allowing distribution systems to be passively operated, based on a "fit-and-forget" approach. However, the increasing penetration of DERs has triggered the need for the coordination and interaction between transmission and distribution levels in order to take advantage of the potential benefits that these flexible resources can bring to the operation of the overall electric power system [42]. It is expected that the exploitation of these resources will enable the increasing penetration; reduction of the investment costs; and improvement of asset utilization [43] [44]. According to ENTSO-E, in a planning setting, such interactions require integrated approaches that recognize the growing interdependence of the transmission and distribution networks. Thus, planning approaches should jointly consider both system levels to find the most effective and efficient network solution and generation deployment. This requirement is particularly relevant when renewable-based generation is involved [41].

For high levels of renewable energy and active consumers' participation in the power system operation, the balancing task becomes more complicated. Effectively dealing with the uncertainty derived from these types of resources requires more flexibility [45]. Energy storage increases the flexibility of power systems and therefore their ability to deal with uncertainty, being recognized as a means to provide additional system security, reliability and flexibility to respond to changes that are difficult to accurately forecast [46]. The increasing uncertainty associated with network operation creates new opportunities for ESS integration at different levels of the electric power system [47]. Although ESSs are not new to power systems, as their role in providing energy arbitrage or contingency services has existed for decades, these consisted mainly of larger ESS units, such as hydro storage and compressed air storage, which are restricted, due to their specific geographical requirements. Smaller battery ESS units do not suffer from these limitations and have lower environmental and non-technical constraints [48]. However, although ESS technology is maturing and continuously reducing in cost, these still require a relatively high initial investment. Battery ESSs also have the advantage of being able to be quickly deployed in the network, and their capacity can be increased gradually [49] [50].

It is likely that many of these ESSs will be deployed by private investors, and therefore we should consider not only whether they can provide a social benefit in terms of reduced operational costs, but also whether they generate sufficient Return On Investment (ROI) [51]. To reduce the risk of stranded assets, these investments should be robust with respects to errors in the long-term evolution of the load and renewable generation capacity [46]. Furthermore, in the presence of a TSO-DSO coordination schemes, these ESSs should also provide services to both operators, that might present conflicting objectives, therefore increasing the complexity of the planning process of these types of assets.

3.3.1. Energy Storage System Technologies

There are a variety of battery ESS technologies with different characteristics such as lead-acid, sodium sulphur (NaS), lithium-ion (Li-ion), nickel-cadmium (NiCd), and vanadium redox (VR). A comprehensive comparison of battery ESS technologies for power system applications is presented in [52]. The capital cost of the battery ESS is normally composed of power rating cost and energy rating cost. Even though

these are important factors when selecting the appropriate technology, they are not the only factors that must be considered. For example, lead-acid batteries have the lowest capital cost among other technologies, however, it may not be the best option for performing the applications that require frequent charging/discharging, such as load levelling and energy arbitrage, due to its low lifecycle and high maintenance cost [53]. Another important aspect to consider is the battery's energy capacity degradation. Energy storage capacity degradation is mainly caused by two factors: calendric ageing and cyclic ageing. The former occurs even if the ESS is not used and is affected by the battery cells temperature and voltage, while the latter results from using (cycling). The battery's capacity is greatly affected by the Depth of Discharge (DoD) and the number of cycles. Disregarding the ESS cyclic ageing in the expansion planning problem results in an inaccurate economical assessment of the ESS.

Different methods were proposed to estimate the battery ESS lifecycle. However, it is not uncommon for ESS manufacturers to provide the relationship between lifecycle and DoD. This information is normally presented in a curve as the one depicted in Figure 1. As the DoD increases, the ESS lifecycle decreases. Different ESS technologies have different lifecycle versus DoD relationships. In lead-acid batteries, for example, this relationship tends to exhibit an exponential form whereas in lithium-ion batteries, a linear relationship is normally observed [53].



FIGURE 1 – ENERGY STORAGE SYSTEMS. LINEARIZATION OF THE LIFECYCLE AS A FUNCTION OF THE DEPTH OF DISCHARGE. SOURCE: [14].

3.3.2. Energy Storage Planning

Works that consider the coordination between transmission and distribution networks have been previously reported. Primarily, these have been focused on the power flow [54], economic dispatch [55], unit commitment [56], expansion planning [45], contingency analysis [44] and flexibility estimation [57] problems. Many studies have addressed the optimal siting and sizing of battery ESSs for transmission and distribution networks separately [58] [59], but very few studies were published that consider both TSO and DSOs' interests in the planning of ESSs.

Motalleb [60] proposed a heuristic method to find the optimal location and capacity of a multi-purpose battery ESS, considering the interests of the transmission and distribution sides of the network. In the transmission side, in order to determine the optimal ESSs location, a sensitivity analysis is performed using complex-valued neural networks and a power flow routine. The ESSs' size is then determined by running a power flow routine and economic dispatch. The optimal size of the ESS from the distribution perspective is determined with the objective of providing grid services such as peak load shaving and load curve smoothing. The proposed method was applied to a real network model of a Hawaiian island. Mottaleb's work is one of the first proposals that consider the interest of transmission and distribution

networks in ESS planning. However, it assumes the planner of the ESSs has full knowledge over the whole power system, which might be impracticable in practice, due to data privacy concerns [50]. Massuco [61] proposes a method to determine the optimal location, energy capacity, and power rating of distributed battery energy storage systems at multiple voltage levels for grid control and reserve provision. The method is based on a linearized formulation of the grid constraints of both the high voltage and medium voltage levels. Fundamental modelling aspects, such as transmission losses, effect of reactive power, On-Load Tap Changers (OLTC) at the MV/HV interface, ESS efficiency and models of conventional generators are also considered in the model. Similarly to Mottaleb's work, Massuco assumes full knowledge of the power system.

At the operational planning timeframe, Coppo addresses the ESS planning problem by considering an agreed and regulated power profile schedule at the primary substation [62]. The proposed method manages distributed ESSs with the objective of providing ancillary services to both the DSO (local regulation of distribution network and congestion management), and the TSO (control of the power profile at the primary substation). The methodology is based on a sliding time window approach, which evaluates the availability of each storage unit to provide ancillary services, assigns a scheduled profile, and corrects it during the real-time operation. At the operational timeframe, Pandžić proposed a method that considers the interaction between transmission and distribution systems. The proposed method is based on bilateral contracts, and day-ahead pricing is considered in order to maximise the powerplant profit considering a storage system, photovoltaic system, and a conventional generating unit. The conclusions highlight the importance of an accurate evaluation of the storage unit's energy and power ratings [63]

As an ESS project generally has a lifetime exceeding a decade, and batteries typically undergo severe capacity degradation throughout the project planning horizon, an accurate planning procedure should be used that considers the degradation of the battery's capacity. Battery ESS planning neglecting battery degradation may result in overestimated revenues and therefore reduce profitability. A precise battery ESS sizing method must consider that battery degradation is influenced by the ESS operation and specifications. Several methods are available for battery ESS sizing. Oversizing is the conventional method to handle battery degradation, by installing a higher battery capacity than the required one to deliver the intended amount of energy at the beginning of life. Figure 2 shows the degradation of the State of Health (SoH) of a 3.5 MWh battery, for different operation modes. Figure 2a shows the SoH degradation, considering several oversizing values for the capacity of the battery and a fixed energy value for the DoD; and Figure 2b shows the SoH curves considering several values for the DoD, expressed as a percentage of the energy capacity value [64].



Figure 2 – Battery capacity decrease curve considering the stress factor coefficients and mathematical modelling of [65]. Source: [64].

From Figure 2 it is possible to see that with oversizing levels of 10% and 30%, SoH values at year 15 are lower than 0.7 whereas a 50% oversizing level gives more than 0.7. It is also possible to see that high DoD reduces SoH significantly. If the DoD range is 100%, the SoH in the final year is computed as 0.64. Additionally, the gap between the SoH curves becomes larger as it approaches the final year. These figures indicate that battery capacity degradation is not a fixed parameter, but rather it is affected by various variables including storage sizes and DoD levels [64]. Although oversizing can be a feasible solution, ensuring sufficient energy capacity over such long periods may require installing excessive battery capacity upfront, which might substantially decrease the project's profitability. Another method is battery augmentation, in which new batteries are added to the ESS over time. Battery augmentation defers initial investments and can exploit future cost reductions in batteries. In [50], Shin explored an approach for optimal capacity determination of a battery ESS, considering the complex degradation of lithium-ion batteries. The proposed sizing algorithm iteratively evaluates the effect of battery ESS operation on battery degradation and estimates the cash flows of the power plant. In addition, the authors studied battery augmentation that adds the storage capacity in the base system to sustain the ESS capacity throughout the project planning horizon. Alharbi [49], proposes a decomposition-based approach to solve the problem of planning of ESS under uncertainty. The optimal decisions minimise the Net Present Value (NPV) of total expected costs over a multi-year horizon, taking into consideration the optimal battery ESS operation. A novel matrix representation of the battery energy capacity degradation is adopted, and the proposed approach is formulated as a two-stage Mixed Integer Linear Programming (MILP) problem, to ensure the convergence of the stochastic optimisation problem. The optimal ratings of the BESS are determined in the first stage, while the optimal installation year is determined in the second stage.

3.3.3.Co-Optimisation of Energy Storage Systems

Optimisation of ESSs, considering the interests of several parties, was considered in a number of published works, especially at the transmission level. Saber [48] proposed a new bi-level battery ESS planning framework that considers the preferences of an Independent System Operator (ISO) and independent investors simultaneously. In the proposed bi-level framework, the long-term total cost of the power system from the viewpoint of ISO is considered in the upper-level problem, and the short-term ESS scheduling from the viewpoint of independent investor is considered in the lower-level problem. In the lower-level problem, the behaviour of independent investors in the day-ahead electricity market is modelled in order to determine the charge/discharge schedule of the ESSs. To solve the addressed bi-level optimisation model, Benders dual decomposition technique has been employed.

Co-planning of energy storage and transmission systems is addressed in [66] [67] [68] [69] . Hu et al. [66] solve a MILP problem iteratively to determine the ESS investment size and locations by replacing part of the transmission investment while satisfying the same system requirement. Zhang et al. [67] propose a MILP model to determine the size and location of a single energy storage unit to minimise both the operation and investment costs taking line losses into account. Hedayati et al. [68] and Konstantelos et al. [69] propose multi-stage co-planning models to determine the location of a given size energy storage that minimises the one-time investment cost and the long-term operation cost. Hedayati et al. [68] uses a DCOPF based deterministic planning model, while a security-constrained OPF based stochastic planning framework is used in Konstantelos et al. [69]. Qiu [46] proposed a multi-stage co-planning tool for transmission and battery ESSs. The model determines both the size and the location of ESSs at each year of the horizon and is based on stochastic optimisation. The model also considers

the degradation of the ESSs' energy capacity and incorporates a unit commitment with reserve requirements.

3.3.4. Co-optimisation in the Power Systems Domain considering ESSs

Co-optimisation, or optimisation considering the interests of several parties/agents, has been applied to a number of other problems in the power systems domain, where ESSs are utilized. Iria [70] proposed a network-constrained bidding optimisation strategy to coordinate the participation of aggregators of prosumers in the day-ahead energy and secondary reserve markets. The bidding optimisation strategy consists of a decentralized approach, based on the Alternating Direction Method of Multipliers (ADMM), where aggregators negotiate with the DSO to obtain network-constrained energy and secondary reserve bids. The consumers and the grid negotiate on a receding horizon framework to obtain consensus solutions that satisfy the grid constraints under all operating conditions. This methodology also has the advantage of preserving the privacy of private consumers.

3.3.5. Final remarks

From the literature review, it can be seen that a lot of work has been published in the ESS planning field. However, so far, most of the published work is mainly focused on the optimal investment in ESS, either from an independent investor, DSO, or TSO perspective. Furthermore, only recently the models adopted for ESS planning have started to consider more complex topics, such as energy capacity degradation, the full AC formulation of the power flow equations, and uncertainty associated with future scenarios. It was also shown that the topic of transmission-distribution coordination is still in its infancy, and little to no research has been published on the joint-planning of ESSs or planning of ESSs in the presence of these types of coordination schemes. Furthermore, co-optimisation methods, that consider the interests of several parties were also addressed. Most of these papers are related to other types of problems related to the power systems field, but these arise as very interesting to solve optimisation problems that consider the interaction and coordination between TSO, DSOs, and third-party entities, such as ESS investors.

The proposed shared resource planning tool will consider the investment in TSO/DSO shared technologies, namely ESSs. The planning tool will be implemented from the perspective of a third-party entity, namely an investor in ESSs, with the objective of maximising the ROI, while providing services to both TSO and DSO, considering the coordination mechanism selected within the ATTEST project. The model will recur to stochastic optimisation to take into account the uncertainty associated with future scenarios. To decrease the computational burden, and maintain data privacy among the several actors, ADMM will be used.

4. Optimisation tool for distribution network planning (Task 3.1)

4.1. Functional description

The main objective of T3.1 is to develop a flexible and adaptive distribution expansion planning optimisation tool that considers the use of flexibility from the TSO/DSO market. The tool will capture challenges introduced by energy flows associated with the participation of smart customers in the TSO market, as well as the benefits offered by non-asset-based network support services traded in the DSO market. The latter may allow DSOs to support the TSO market and reduce both distribution and transmission networks' costs by pushing the distribution networks beyond traditional security limits while still meeting, and even improving, reliability standards thanks to the active use of post-contingency demand response, reliability support, and other advanced services that can be traded in a DSO market.

T3.1 aims to optimise network investment pathways (i.e., portfolios of investment decisions) for distribution networks across multiple future energy scenarios, i.e., 2030, 2040 and 2050. The investments are optimised considering both capital expenditure (asset build) and associated operation costs based on long-term uncertainties from future energy scenarios. The operation costs can be associated with generation, reliability and flexibility services procurement.

The developed T3.1 will be tested against several test cases which are developed in T2.3 as mentioned in Table 1. Further information about these test cases can be found in D2.3 (Test cases) of WP2 (Toolbox specification, support tools and test cases).

NETWORK TYPE	Country	Number of networks
	Portugal	3
Distribution	Spain	3
Distribution	UK	3
	Croatia	3

TABLE 1: DISTRIBUTION NETWORK TEST CASES DEVELOPED IN $\ensuremath{\mathsf{T3.1}}$

4.2. Technical description

The developed tool in T3.1 is based on the concept that investment decisions, in addition to providing system benefits (e.g., higher capacity, reliability, etc.), also create options to pursue other benefits in the future (e.g., investing in network capacity to support emerging TSO/DSO flexibility). In order to consider these real options, the tool uses a stochastic formulation (non-recombining scenario trees) combined with a simulation-based optimisation framework to produce adaptive path-dependent network reinforcement strategies. A high-level description of the optimisation tool for distribution network planning is presented in Figure 3. As shown in the figure, to apply the tool, it is first necessary to collect generation, demand and network information as well as a portfolio of candidate reinforcement options (e.g., line and substation reinforcements and demand-side flexibility). As the tool uses a simulation-based optimisation approach (recursive function), the tool has to be initialized with a model of the initial conditions of the networks, before any reinforcements are done. Afterwards, a recursive function is used to simulate different investment alternatives across a path-dependent scenario tree depicting uncertainty (e.g., demand growth). Finally, the results, which are yearly recommended interventions across different scenarios (taken from the decision tree) are presented.



_____/

FIGURE 3: FLOWCHART OF THE METHODOLOGY FOR THE T3.1

4.2.1.Input data

The input data taken by the model includes generation data, demand profiles, a portfolio of network reinforcement options (including asset and non-asset solutions) and multiple future scenarios developed as a nonrecombining scenario tree. The generation, demand and network data must represent the characteristics of the network under consideration. Furthermore, the network reinforcement solutions considered in the study should also align with the practices of the relevant DSO. For example, some network companies keep in stock specific assets to reinforce their networks (e.g., cables with specific sizes and characteristics) and may have some regulation in place dictating the use of flexibility (e.g., a limited number of calls per year for the flexibility provided by customers).

4.2.2. Initialization

At the initialization stage, the initial conditions of the network and the recursive function are set. To be more specific, to initialize the recursive function, the year of study is set to zero (current year) with no recommendation of investments and no additional solutions (conditions of the current year). With the initial settings, the optimisation model utilises a recursive algorithm to optimise investment alternatives

through different inter-dependent future scenarios (e.g., demand growth, integration of low carbon technologies, etc.) and considering asset degradation (modelled with the indices developed in WP5).

4.2.3. Optimisation model

The optimisation model uses a recursive function to select network reinforcement options across multiple years and scenarios (i.e., taken from the scenario tree). For this purpose, the recursive function emulates a branch-and-bound approach where (i) the function analyses the conditions of the network in a selected year, (ii) proposes network reinforcement solutions for the next year and (iii) creates a copy of itself (additional recursive functions) to assess the solutions in the next year. The new recursive functions then continue analysing future years and solutions (branch) and will stop propagating (bound) if the network conditions become unfeasible. Once a recursive function reaches the end of the planning lifetime, it will report its findings (investment strategy across multiple years) to its parent functions which can then compare different solutions (from other recursive functions), stop the propagation of recursive functions that offer worse solutions (another component of the bound process) and, ultimately, select one or more optimised investment strategies.

Based on the above, the optimisation model is developed based on three stages. The first stage is network modelling for a single year with AC OPF to analyse the network feasibility, power losses and corresponding costs. The network feasibility is decided by statutory voltage, thermal and security limits. The second stage is the recursions of identifying available investments and the potential combinations among them. The investments include both traditional asset-based solutions, i.e., distribution line reinforcements and substation (or transformer) reinforcement; and new non-asset-based solutions, i.e., the flexibility services from TSO/DSO market. The third stage indicates that when the end of the planning horizon is reached (e.g., typically 45 years for UK distribution networks [71]), the recursions will be terminated.

The outcomes of the planning tool are flexible, adaptive investment strategies that seamlessly allow the network to be customised, for example through staged investment in hybrid portfolios of asset and non-asset-based solutions, in response to uncertain future change. The robustness of the investment strategies will be validated with relevant operation tools (developed in WP4) based on criteria and approaches used in practice and recommended by literature to address uncertainty (e.g., selected future energy scenarios), as well as economic (e.g., NPC and IRR) and risk factors (e.g., minimax regret and existing network asset risk metrics).

The tool optimises investment decisions in consideration of an objective function, such as the minimisation of NPC in the UK [72]. The objective function is calculated across a scenario tree and can be assessed in terms of the expected value or in terms of a conditional value. Using the NPC defined by the UK regulator as an example, the objective function consists of the following terms:

- NPC associated with economic cost:
 - Capital costs that are expensed immediately
 - Depreciated capital costs
- NPC associated with social cost:
 - o Cost associated with power losses
 - o Cost associated with reliability

The tool can consider a wide range of investment options, currently, three types of investments are considered, namely:

- Distribution line extension or reinforcement
- Substation reinforcement
- Procurements of flexibility services, e.g., demand-side flexibility

The developed tool considers the following sets of constraints:

- Investment budget
- Active and reactive nodal power balance equations
- Generators active and reactive power limits
- Flexibility service active and reactive power limits, and maximum number of calls per period
- Full AC power flow equations
- Capacity constraints of distribution network lines
- Voltage magnitude and angle limits
- Load curtailment limit

Accordingly, the following decision variables are considered in each uncertainty scenario, time period, and operation state:

- Network investment decisions
- Generation dispatch
- Flexibility procurement
- Load curtailment

4.3. Input and output requirements

4.3.1. Input data

The general input data sets required by the T3.1 are:

- Distribution network models (developed in T2.3) that include data of distribution networks, e.g., buses, branches, generation and demand. An example of data for a Portugal transmission network is shown in Annex 1.
- Flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market (developed in T2.4 and T2.6) includes the maximum upwards and downward flexibility services. An example of flexibility data template is shown in Annex 2.
- Future energy scenarios (developed in T2.3) for 2030, 2040 and 2050.
- Catalogue of asset-based and non-asset-based solutions, e.g., portfolio of power lines and the cost of upgrading or installing a transmission line. In practice, this information would be provided by a DNO. In this work, online catalogues will be used.

An example of input data format can be found in the annex. Note that the planning tool is still under development, therefore, current formats of data may change in the future to facilitate data exchanging within the ATTEST project. The technical output data from the T3.1 is shown in Table 2.

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generation data	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€ €/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Network	Bus data	-	-	MATPOWER
data	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWER
Domand	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
data	Demand curtailment cost	-	€ €/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
	Unit cost for upgrading distribution lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Asset- solutions	Unit cost for installing new distribution lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Unit cost for installing new transformers	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Flexibility service cost	_	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER

TABLE 2: INPUTS FOR THE T3.1

4.3.2. Output data

The general output data from the T3.1 is:

- An adaptive investment planning strategy for the distribution network.
- Expected investment cost and operation cost.
- Energy losses and load curtailment, ultimately, the load curtailment is expected to be zero.

The technical output data from the T3.1 is shown in Table 3.

TABLE 3: OUTPUTS OF THE T3.1

ΠΑΤΑ		Τνος	LINUTS	FORMAT
DATA		TYPE	UNITS	FURIVIAI
	Distribution line	Recommended investment planning	-	+_+
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		
Investment	New distribution	Recommended investment planning	-	+_+
decisions	line construction	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		LXL
	Transformer	Recommended investment planning	-	+++
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		ιλι



	Investment cost	-	€	txt
Costs (net	Generation cost	-	€	txt
present	Penalty cost	-	€	txt
value*)	Flexibility service	_	€	tvt
	cost			txt

*Other metrics such as capital and operational expenditure (CAPEX and OPEX) will be included.

4.4. Computational requirements

A Python-based software will be developed to read, formulate mathematically, solve and store results of the transmission and/or distribution expansion planning problem. Python has been selected over other languages based on its simplicity, compatibility with other platforms, the option to use object-oriented functionalities, and a large number of well-established libraries (more than 137000 available libraries) and that it is an open-source programming language. Although Python can be installed just by downloading the official release on its website, it is more convenient to use a well-established package management tool such as Anaconda and therefore we intend to use it in this project. The main advantages of Anaconda are:

- 1) It allows installing different versions of Python on what is called "environments", which allows testing Python code in different versions of Python if needed.
- 2) It could be difficult for non-experienced users to install Python libraries when they do not have administrative rights in their laptops/desktops but Anaconda solves this problem seamlessly by allowing the installation of libraries only using user rights.
- 3) Users of different libraries in Python tend to experience incompatibilities between versions of libraries, i.e. library "A" might require to use a specific version of library "B" but users tend to download the latest version of any library and sometimes (quite often) this action causes errors with library "A". Anaconda solves the problem of versioning and compatibility of libraries providing a ready-to-use package to the user.

A Julia implementation of the operation model for transmission systems will be used. The implementation had been developed using the modelling language for mathematical optimisation JuMP. Solving the resulting mathematical problem needs to be solved in order to get useful information that any user can use at a later stage for the analysis of the optimised power system. Ipopt has been selected as the solution package for the specific problems that we are solving. Other solution packages or software might be used to solved additional or more specific mathematical models that could be developed during the lifetime of the WP.

During the development of the code different versions from different developers will be produced and this situation can cause a problem of incompatibility of software between developers if a proper versioning and testing structure is not in place. Git is then used as the versioning software in order to solve this well-known problem in software development. For automatic testing and continuous delivery we could potentially use web services such as GitLab or GitHub, or depending on resources availability an in-home testing desktop/server could be used.

Interacting effectively with users and providing the information that they require in an easy but effective way is the main goal of any software. The software developed in WP3 will use a CLI (command line interface) to interact with the user. The user will be able to run the software and visualize results through the CLI, which will require a single line of execution (by default) to solve a problem.

A summary of the software requirements is as follows:

- Anaconda
- Git
- Julia
- C++ compiler (Visual Studio or gcc)

Libraries and/or third-party software for Julia and Python that are mandatory:

- JuMP
- Ipopt
- Pyomo

License

- Open source

4.5. Interactions with other tools

The interactions between the distribution network planning tool (T3.1) and the other tools developed within the ATTEST project are shown in Figure 4.

- T2.3 provides the test cases and T2.4 provides flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market used by T3.1. The test cases are data of distribution networks, e.g., buses, branches, generation and demand. An example of data for a Portugal transmission network is shown in Annex 1. Flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market includes the maximum upwards and downward flexibility services. An example of flexibility data template is shown in Annex 2.
- T3.1 identifies the distribution network investment planning strategy and input the information to T3.3 which develops an optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies. The investment planning strategy includes upgrading installing a distribution line, upgrading substations and investment on flexibility services.
- T4.2 identifies available capacity in the distribution network for T3.1.
- T5.3 provides optimal asset management plans to T3.1. In WP5 it will be estimated the time in which the recommended thresholds for the life of assets will be exceeded. This will be defined depending on the type of assets. This can be valuable in WP3 to fine-tune the life of assets, to compute more accurately their net present value. WP5 will provide file assessment indexes, that will be used in WP3 to determine the required preventive or corrective maintenance cost, and to guide the replacement of assets.
- The tools developed in WP3 will be tested and validated in WP7 (T7.2), also providing assessment criteria (T7.3)





FIGURE 4: INTERACTIONS OF TOOL T3.1 WITH OTHER ATTEST TOOLS

5. Optimisation tool for transmission network planning (Task 3.2)

5.1. Functional description

The main objective of T3.2 is to develop a flexible transmission expansion planning optimisation tool that considers the use of flexibility from emerging bulk generation technologies (e.g., storage) in combination with support from the demand side.

T3.2 aims to optimise network investment pathways for transmission networks across multiple future energy scenarios, i.e., 2020, 2030, 2040 and 2050. The investments are optimised considering both capital expenditure (asset build) and associated operation costs based on long-term uncertainties from future energy scenarios. The operation costs can be associated with generation, reliability and flexibility services procurement.

The developed planning tool for the transmission network is adaptive and it facilitates the development of different regions. The tool accounts for uncertainties associated with regions of the network that may evolve differently from the rest. Long-term uncertainty is considered by identifying the optimal location and size of new asset-based and non-asset-based solutions while short-term uncertainty is captured by considering worst-case scenarios (i.e., N-1 condition) in hourly operations.

The developed T3.2 will be tested against several test cases which are developed in T2.3 as mentioned in Table 4. Further information about these test cases can be found in D2.3 (Test cases) of WP2 (Toolbox specification, support tools and test cases).

TABLE 4: TRANSMISSION NETWORK TEST CASES DEVELOPED IN T3.2

Network Type	Country	NUMBER OF NETWORKS
	Portugal	7
Transmission	UK	1
	Croatia	3

5.2. Technical description

The three-stage framework combines a screening model, a MILP and a detailed network operation model. A high-level representation of the methodology is shown in Figure 5.





FIGURE 5: FLOWCHART OF THE METHODOLOGY FOR THE T3.2

The input data are generation data, demand profiles, asset and non-asset solutions and future scenarios. The screening model is a simplified version of the planning model, e.g., a DC OPF model with a linear cost function for network investments which is only applied to specific conditions (e.g., single year for a single scenario). The screening model is applied to different scenarios to identify which network components would normally be reinforced, i.e., transmission lines and transformers. In order to capture the uncertainties of the future, two different energy scenarios are considered for each year of 2030, 2040 and 2050, i.e., one optimistic scenario with more electrification and renewable integration (known as "Two degrees" in the UK or "Active Economy" in the ATTEST project) and one pessimistic scenario which is more conservative in electrification and renewable integration (known as "Slow progression" in the UK or "Steady progression" in the ATTEST project). The screening model captures uncertainties by considering these different future energy scenarios. The relevant options are then selected to create a catalogue and inputs to the investment model.

The investment model determines the initial investment strategies based on the catalogue provided by the screening model. The catalogue is the starting condition for the investment model and the path dependency is captured by starting with different conditions that are identified by the screening approach.

The determined information (i.e., investment decisions and procurement of flexibility services) is then passed to the operation network model which runs SC AC OPF analysis. The results of SC AC OPF from the operation model are used to create the network binding constraints and calculate the operation costs. This information is then fed back to the investment model. The process is then iteratively repeated between stage 2 and stage 3 until the results converge to a point where network violations are averted or cannot be further alleviated while maintaining a minimum total cost.

5.2.1.Stage 1: screening model:

Optimising a planning strategy for transmission networks can be computationally expensive considering the potentially massive number of investments available, some of which can become attractive under uncertain future conditions. To mitigate this issue, the proposed planning tool utilizes a screening model to identify and pre-select potentially attractive candidate investments. A screening stage is added because of the massive number of potential investments which is computationally expensive. The candidate investments would have to be pre-selected through the screening approach. The screening model is a deterministic process that runs different scenarios while neglecting the dependencies among decisions. The dependency means the effects of previous decisions.

The screening model is a simplified version of the planning model, e.g., a DC OPF model with a linear cost function for network investments which is only applied to specific conditions (e.g., single year). The model is applied to different scenarios to identify which network components would normally be reinforced. The relevant options are then selected to create a catalogue, i.e., reinforcements of transmission lines and transformers.

The objective function used by the screening model is the minimisation of costs. To be more specific, the objective function consists of the following terms:

- Costs associated with asset-based reinforcements:
 - o Transmission line reinforcements
 - o Transformer reinforcements
- Costs associated with network operation:
 - o Generation cost
 - o Penalty cost for load curtailment

The screening model places focus on asset-based network solutions. The specific solutions that are currently considered by the tool include:

- Upgrading and installing transmission lines
- Installing transformers

The developed tool considers the following sets of constraints:

- Active and reactive nodal power balance equations
- Generators active and reactive power limits
- DC power flow equations
- Capacity constraints of transmission network lines

The screening model outputs a reduced catalogue of investment options for the transmission network, including the investment decisions on transformers and transmission lines. The detailed output data from stage 1 is presented in Annex 3.

5.2.2.Stage 2: investment model

Stage 2 is the investment model which uses MILP for scenario-based stochastic optimisation formulation. The aim of stage 2 is to develop investment strategies that optimise the location and size of the new asset and non-asset-based solutions based on long-term uncertainties from future scenarios.

In the stage 2 of the proposed transmission network planning tool, the objective function consists of the following terms:

- Asset-based reinforcement costs
 - o Transmission line reinforcement costs s
 - Transformer reinforcement costs s
- Non-asset-based reinforcement costs s
 - o Procurement costs of flexibility services
- Network operation cost
 - o Generation cost
 - o Penalty cost

The investment decisions considered for transmission network planning are:

- Upgrading and installing transmission lines
- Installing transformers
- Procurements of flexibility services

The developed tool considers the following sets of constraints:

- Investment budget
- Active and reactive nodal power balance equations
- Flexibility service active and reactive power limits
- Capacity constraints of transmission network lines
- Linear approximation of network constraint violations
- Non-anticipatively constraints

Accordingly, the following decision variables are considered in each scenario, time period, and operation state:

- Network investment decisions

The investment model outputs investment decisions for the transmission network and the corresponding costs for the reinforcements. The detailed output data from stage 2 is presented in Annex 3.

5.2.3. Stage 3: Operation model

Stage 3 is an operation model which performs hourly operations and identifies the worst-case conditions considering the proposed investment decisions from stage 2. Stage 3 runs SC AC OPF and

the results are used to update the network binding constraints in stage 2. The process is then iteratively repeated between stage 2 and stage 3 until the results converge to a point where network violations are averted or cannot be further alleviated.

In the stage 3 of the proposed transmission network planning tool, the objective function consists of the following terms:

- Non-asset-based solutions
 - o Procurement of flexibility services
- Network operation cost
 - o Generation cost
 - o Penalty cost

The investments considered for distribution network planning are:

- Upgrading and installing transmission lines
- Installing transformers
- Procurements of flexibility services

The developed tool considers the following sets of constraints:

- Generators active and reactive power limits
- Active and reactive nodal power balance equations
- Flexibility service active and reactive power limits
- Full SC AC OPF power flow equations
- Capacity constraints of transmission network lines
- Voltage magnitude and angle limits
- Load curtailment limit

Accordingly, the following decision variables are considered in each uncertainty scenario, time period, and operation state:

- Parameters to update binding constraints
- Generation dispatch
- Load curtailment
- Flexibility procurement

The operation model updates the parameters required for binding constraints in stage 2. It also outputs the costs for operation and penalty. The detailed output data from stage 3 is presented in Annex 3.

5.3. Input and output requirements

5.3.1.Input data

The general input data sets required by the T3.2 is:

- Test cases (developed in T2.3) that includes data of transmission networks, e.g., buses, branches, generation and demand.
- Flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market (developed in T2.4 and T2.6) includes the maximum upwards and downward flexibility services.
- Future energy scenarios (developed in T2.3) for 2030, 2040 and 2050.

- Costs for asset-based and non-asset-based solutions, e.g., the cost of upgrading or installing a transmission line.

The technical input data for the T3.2 is shown in Table 5. A detailed input data required for each stage of T3.2 is shown in Annex 3.

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generation	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
data	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Network	Bus data	-		MATPOWER
data	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWER
Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Demand curtailment cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Asset- solutions	Unit cost for upgrading transmission lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Unit cost for installing new transmission lines (per type)	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Unit cost for installing new transformers (per type)	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER

TABLE 5: INPUTS FOR THE T3.2

5.3.2. Output data

The general output data from the T3.2 is:

- An adaptive investment planning strategy for the transmission network.
- Expected investment cost and operation cost.
- Energy losses and load curtailment, ultimately, the load curtailment is expected to be zero.

The technical output data from the T3.2 is shown in Table 6. A detailed output data from each stage of T3.2 is shown in Annex 3.

Data		Түре	Units	Format
	Transmission line Recommended investment plannin,		-	tyt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		tXt
Investment	New transmission	Recommended investment planning	-	+v+
decisions	line construction	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		ίχι
	Transformer	ansformer Recommended investment planning		+v+
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		ίχι
	Investment cost	-	€	txt
Costs (net	Generation cost	-	€	txt
present value)	Penalty cost	-	€	txt
	Flexibility service		€	txt
	COST			

TABLE 6: OUTPUTS OF THE T3.2

5.4. Computational requirements

A Python-based software will be developed to read, formulate mathematically, solve and store results of the transmission expansion planning problem. Python has been selected over other languages based on its simplicity, compatibility with other platforms, object-oriented characteristics, and a large number of well-established libraries (more than 137000 available libraries) and that it is an open-source programming language. Although Python can be installed just by downloading the official release on its website, it is more convenient to use a well-established package management tool such as Anaconda and therefore we intend to use it in this project. The main advantages of Anaconda are:

- 1) It allows installing different versions of Python on what is called "environments", which allows testing Python code in different versions of Python if needed.
- 2) It could be difficult for non-experienced users to install Python libraries when they do not have administrative rights in their laptops/desktops but Anaconda solves this problem seamlessly by allowing the installation of libraries only using user rights.
- 3) Users of different libraries in Python tend to experience incompatibilities between versions of libraries, i.e. library "A" might require to use a specific version of library "B" but users tend to download the latest version of any library and sometimes (quite often) this action causes errors with library "A". Anaconda solves the problem of versioning and compatibility of libraries providing a ready-to-use package to the user.

A Julia implementation of the operation model for transmission systems will be used. The implementation had been developed using the modelling language for mathematical optimisation JuMP. Solving the resulting mathematical problem needs to be solved in order to get useful information that any user can use at a later stage for the analysis of the optimised power system. Ipopt has been selected as the solution package for the specific problems that we are solving. Other solution packages or software might be used to solve additional or more specific mathematical models that could be developed during the lifetime of the WP.

During the development of the code different versions from different developers will be produced and this situation can cause a problem of incompatibility of software between developers if a proper

versioning and testing structure are not in place. Git is then used as the versioning software in order to solve this well-known problem in software development.

Interacting effectively with users and providing the information that they require in an easy but effective way is the main goal of any software. The software developed in WP3 will use a CLI (command line interface) to interact with the user. The user will be able to run the software and visualize results through the CLI, which will require a single line of execution (by default) to solve a problem.

A summary of the software requirements is as follows:

- Anaconda
- Git
- Julia
- C++ compiler (Visual Studio or gcc)

Libraries and/or third-party software for Julia and Python that are mandatory:

- JuMP
- Ipopt
- Pyomo

License

- Open-source

5.5. Interactions with other tools

The interactions between the transmission network planning tool (T3.2) and the other tools developed within the ATTEST project are shown in Figure 6.

- T2.3 provides the test cases and T2.4 provides flexibility service data used by T3.2. The test cases are data of transmission networks, e.g., buses, branches, generation and demand. Flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market includes the maximum upwards and downward flexibility services. An example of flexibility data template is shown in Annex 2.
- T3.2 identifies the transmission network reinforcement plans and input the information to T3.3 which develops an optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies. The investment planning strategy includes upgrading installing a transmission line, installing a transformer and investment on flexibility services.
- T4.5 identifies available capacity in the transmission network and T4.4 provides the operation model used by the stage 3 of T3.2.
- T5.3 defines optimal asset management plans for T3.2. In WP5 it will be estimated the time in which the recommended thresholds for the life of assets will be exceeded. This will be defined depending on the type of assets. This will be used in WP3 to fine-tune the life of assets, in order to compute more accurately their net present value. WP5 will provide file assessment indexes, that will be used in WP3 to determine the required preventive or corrective maintenance cost, and to guide the replacement of assets.
- T3.2 will be tested and validated in T7.2. T3.2 will also provide assessment criteria to T7.3.





6. Optimisation tool for planning TSO/DSO shared technologies (Task 3.3)

6.1. Functional Description

The main objective of T3.3 is to develop a novel optimisation tool for placing and sizing battery ESSs at the connection points between the transmission and distribution networks, which may be shared and managed in coordination by the TSO and DSOs. Similarly to the aforementioned tools (T3.1 and T3.2), the tool will consider the challenges introduced by energy flows associated with active consumers and renewable generation, such as the uncertainty associated with these power flows, and the different interests from the several parties involved in the planning of these types of assets.

This tool will incorporate the TSO/DSO coordination mechanisms defined in T2.4 for planning. The optimisation tool will be developed from the perspective of a third-party entity, namely an ESS investor, with the objective of evaluating and assessing the attractiveness of ESS investment in TSO/DSO regulated markets. The potential impact derived from the ancillary services will also be assessed, from the TSO and DSOs' perspectives.

The developed planning tool for shared ESS technologies will consider critical aspects related to battery ESS planning, such as battery degradation and battery augmentation strategies. In this regard, long-term and short-term uncertainties will be adequately addressed through stochastic programming techniques.

6.2. Technical Description

The tool developed in T3.3 is based on stochastic programming, with the objective of producing an optimal investment plan in battery ESSs that can be jointly operated by TSO and DSOs, from the perspective of a third-party investor. A high-level representation of the proposed methodology is shown in Figure 7.

The input data are topological data, expected costs and specifications associated with ESS technologies, demand and renewable generation profiles, investments in asset and non-asset solutions and future scenarios. At the first stage, the tool will receive as inputs the investment plans in the distribution and transmission network, forecasted renewable energy production and flexibility profiles provided by non-asset-based solutions (such as active consumers). The optimisation model will be developed based on ADMM, with the objective of reflecting the different objectives from the several parties involved in the shared ESS planning process, as well as maintaining data privacy.

The optimisation process is based on two main stages. To reflect the TSO-DSO coordination mechanism selected for ATTEST, described in D2.4, initially an assessment of the flexibility available at the distribution level is performed. This assessment intends to disclose the flexibility that can be provided by the distribution network at the connection point with the transmission network, that does not jeopardize (i.e., leads to technical constraints) the operation of the distribution network. This assessment is performed taking into account the networks' technical limits, such as voltage limits, line thermal limits, distributed generation limits, and limits of other network assets (such as transformer with on-load regulation, capacitor banks and distributed ESSs), and the flexibility limits provided by active consumers. After this initial assessment, an iterative process, based on ADMM is performed, that intends to determine the optimal investment plan in ESSs, taking into account the objectives of the

different parties involved. Namely, the TSO will want to minimise the costs associated with the operation of the transmission network, the DSO will want to minimise the costs associated with the operation of the distribution network, while taking into account its duty as a flexibility provider to the TSO, and the ESS investor will want to maximise the profit derived from providing ancillary services to TSO and DSOs, taking into account the investment and operational costs associated with ESS.

The outcome of the proposed tool is an investment plan in ESSs, namely power rating and battery capacity, to be installed each year at the connection points between the transmission and distribution networks.



FIGURE 7: TSO-DSO SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING TOOL. FLOWCHART OF THE METHODOLOGY.

6.2.1. Initialization

The objective of the distribution network flexibility assessment tool is to determine the flexibility that a distribution network can supply at the point of connection with the transmission network, that can be exploited by the TSO for network management purposes. This procedure is executed for every

Specifications of the Planning Tools WP3

Distribution System Operators that participate in the TSO/DSO coordination scheme i.e., that can supply flexibility to the TSO. The procedure consists of the determination of a flexibility map, which represents all of the possible operation points possible at the distribution level, without causing constraints in the distribution network. The output of this tool is a flexibility area, that demonstrates the active and reactive power flow possible at the connection point between the transmission and distribution networks. Figure 8 shows an illustration of a possible flexibility map, the output of the first stage of the TSO/DSO shared resource planning tool. The flexibility map is represented through a set of equations that are a function of the active and reactive power flow at the connection point with the distribution network. This allows the inclusion of these equations as constraints in the second stage of the TSO-DSO shared resource planning procedure.





NETWORK.

6.2.2. Optimisation model

The objective of the second stage is to determine the optimal investment plan in ESS, that will be shared by TSO and DSOs to manage their networks. To reflect the coordination scheme adopted in ATTEST, the flexibility maps determined at the first stage of the shared resource planning tool enter as input in the second stage, essentially restricting the active and reactive power consumption at each connection point with the distribution networks participating in the TSO-DSO coordination scheme.

The optimisation problem must consider the objectives of the several parties (agents) involved in the planning procedure. From the TSO perspective, the objective of the optimisation problem is to minimise the NPC related to the operation of the transmission system, considering the flexibility provided by DSOs and the flexibility provided by the ESSs installed at the boundary points with the distribution systems, that will be shared with the respective DSOs. The TSO must consider the restrictions related to the management of the transmission system. From the DSO perspective, the objective is to minimise the NPC related to the operation on the distribution network, considering the flexibility requirements from the TSO, and the ESS installed at the boundary between the transmission and distribution systems. The DSO must consider the restrictions associated with the management of the distribution system. From the investor in the ESS devices perspective, the objective is to maximise the NPV of the investment in ESS. This optimisation problem, where several parties with different objectives are involved, will be

solved through ADMM. ADMM has the advantage of limiting the amount of information exchanged between the different parties involved in the optimisation process (essentially, only the desired active and reactive profiles will be exchanged), and also decomposing the larger optimisation problem, involving the full transmission and distribution systems, into smaller problems thus contributing to the tractability of the main problem.

6.3. Input and Output Requirements

6.3.1. General Inputs

The general input data for the planning tool is:

- Test cases (developed in T2.3) that includes data of transmission networks, e.g., buses, branches, generation and demand.
- Investment plans in transmission and distribution networks (developed in T3.1 and T3.2)
- Flexibility service data from TSO/DSO market (developed in T2.4 and T2.6) which includes the maximum upwards and downward flexibility services.
- Future energy scenarios (developed in T2.3) for 2030, 2040 and 2050.
- Costs for asset-based and non-asset-based solutions, e.g., ESS technology cost over the planning horizon, prices of ancillary services provided by the ESS.

6.3.2. General Outputs

The general output data from the planning tool is:

- An investment planning strategy for the shared TSO-DSO ESSs.
- Expected investment cost and operational cost.
- Energy losses, load and renewable generation curtailment, and flexibility required from active consumers.

6.3.3.Stage 1: Estimation of the flexibility available at the distribution level

6.3.3.1. Input data

Data		ΤΥΡΕ	Units	Format
Generation data	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel
	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel

TABLE 7: SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING (TASK 3.3). INPUTS FOR STAGE 1.



WP3

		(weekday, weekend, summer and winter)		
Network data	Bus data	-		MATPOWER
(transmission and distribution)	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWER
Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel
	Load shedding cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER, Excel

6.3.3.2. Output data

TABLE 8: SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING (TASK 3.3). OUTPUTS OF STAGE 1.

Data	Түре	Units	Format
Flexibility Map	Maximum flexibility available in the distribution network at the connection point with the transmission network for the planning period	MW, MVAr	Txt/Excel/json

6.3.4. Stage 2: Co-Optimisation of Shared TSO-DSO resources

6.3.4.1. Input data

TABLE 9: SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING (TASK 3.3). INPUTS FOR STAGE 2.

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generatio n data	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWE R, Excel
	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWE R, Excel
Network data	Bus data	-		MATPOWE R
	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWE R



Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWE R
	Demand curtailment		€/MW,	MATPOWE
	cost	-	€/MVAr	R
Asset- solutions	Unit cost for ESS rating	-	€/MWh	Txt/Excel
	Unit cost for ESS capacity	-	€/MVA	Txt/Excel
	Unit cost for upgrading ESS capacity	-	€/MWh	Txt/Excel
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWE R/Excel
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWE R/Excel

6.3.4.2. Output data

TABLE 10: SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING (TASK 3.3). OUTPUTS OF THE PLANNING TOOL.

Data		Туре	Units	Format
Investment decisions	ESS installation plan	Recommended investment planning horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years	-	Txt/Excel
	ESS upgrade plan Recommended investment planning horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		-	Txt/Excel
Costs (net	Investment cost	-	€	Txt/Excel
present value)	Upgrade cost	-	€	Txt/Excel

6.4. Computational Requirements

The planning tool will be developed in Python programming language and the optimisation problem will be formulated recurring to the optimisation modelling language Pyomo [73] [74], allowing the abstraction from the underlying solver to be used. Similarly to T3.1 and T3.2, the user is advised to install a package management tool, such as Anaconda.

During the development of the code different versions from different developers will be produced and this situation can cause a problem of incompatibility of software between developers if a proper versioning and testing structure are not in place. Git is then used as the versioning software in order to solve this well-known problem in software development.

Interacting effectively with users and providing the information that they require in an easy but effective way is the main goal of any software. The software developed in WP3 will use a CLI (command line interface) to interact with the user. The user will be able to run the software and visualize results through the CLI, which will require a single line of execution (by default) to solve a problem.

A summary of the software requirements is as follows:

- Anaconda
- Git



- C++ compiler (Visual Studio or gcc)

Libraries and/or third-party software for Python:

- Pyomo
 - Third-party solver, compatible with Pyomo (e.g., IpOpt [75])

License

- Open-source

6.5. Interactions with Other Tools

The interactions between the shared resource planning tool (T3.3) and the other tools developed within the ATTEST project are shown in Figure 9.

- WP2--Toolbox specification, support tools and test cases:
 - WP2 provides the test cases (T2.3) and the TSO/DSO coordination mechanism (T2.4) used by T3.3.
- WP3--Optimal design and planning tools for transmission and distribution systems:
 - o T3.1 identifies the distribution network reinforcement plans.
 - o T3.2 identifies the transmission network reinforcement plans.
- WP7--Demonstration and impact assessment:
 - The tools developed in WP3 will be tested and validated in WP7 (T7.2), also providing assessment criteria (T7.3).



FIGURE 9: TSO-DSO SHARED RESOURCE PLANNING TOOL. INTERACTIONS AMONG THE TOOLS.

7. Concluding remarks

This deliverable presents the specifications of the planning tools to be used in the ATTEST project that support the TSOs and DSOs in planning the transmission and distribution networks considering flexibility from the markets. It includes the current state-of-art of the network planning tools, a description of the functions and techniques, data inputs and outputs, computational requirements and interactions of other tools within the project. The specification of the tools will allow ATTEST partners to understand the functions of the tools, and also will facilitate the cooperation among tools developed in different WPs.

The proposed distribution network optimisation tool is developed based on the stochastic formulation (non-recombining scenario trees) combined with a simulation-based optimisation framework to produce adaptive path-dependent network reinforcement strategies. The proposed transmission network planning tool uses a three-stage scenario-based stochastic optimisation formulation. The shared resource planning tool uses distributed optimisation techniques, namely ADMM, and stochastic programming to identify the optimal investment strategy in ESS to be shared by TSO and DSOs under uncertain future scenarios. The detailed mathematic formulations are not included in this report as they are the focus of a dedicated final report when the development of the tools (D3.2 and D3.3) is finished.

The functions specified in this document will continuously be developed and enhanced during the project.

8. References

- G. Latorre, R. Darío Cruz, J. M. Areiza, and A. Villegas, "Classification of publications and models on transmission expansion planning," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 18, no. 2, 2003, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2003.811168.
- [2] C. W. Lee, S. K. K. Ng, J. Zhong, and F. F. Wu, "Transmission expansion planning from past to future," 2006, doi: 10.1109/PSCE.2006.296317.
- [3] S. Lumbreras and A. Ramos, "The new challenges to transmission expansion planning. Survey of recent practice and literature review," *Electric Power Systems Research*. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2015.10.013.
- [4] P. V. Gomes and J. T. Saraiva, "State-of-the-art of transmission expansion planning: A survey from restructuring to renewable and distributed electricity markets," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 111, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2019.04.035.
- [5] M. Majidi and R. Baldick, "Definition and theory of transmission network planning," in *Lecture Notes in Energy*, vol. 79, 2020.
- [6] D. K. Molzahn and I. A. Hiskens, "A Survey of Relaxations and Approximations of the Power Flow Equations," *Found. Trends Electr. Energy Syst.*, 2019, doi: 10.1561/3100000012.
- [7] R. Fang and D. J. Hill, "A new strategy for transmission expansion in competitive electricity markets," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 18, no. 1, 2003, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2002.807083.
- [8] H. Yu, C. Y. Chung, K. P. Wong, and J. H. Zhang, "A chance constrained transmission network expansion planning method with consideration of load and wind farm uncertainties," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 24, no. 3, 2009, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2009.2021202.
- [9] R. A. Jabr, "Robust transmission network expansion planning with uncertain renewable generation and loads," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 28, no. 4, 2013, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2013.2267058.
- [10] V. F. Martins and C. L. T. Borges, "Active distribution network integrated planning incorporating distributed generation and load response uncertainties," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 4, no. 26, 2011, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2011.2122347.
- [11] H. Zhang, V. Vittal, G. T. Heydt, and J. Quintero, "A mixed-integer linear programming approach for multi-stage security-constrained transmission expansion planning," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 27, no. 2, 2012, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2011.2178000.
- [12] F. Capitanescu *et al.*, "State-of-the-art, challenges, and future trends in security constrained optimal power flow," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 81, no. 8, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2011.04.003.
- [13] H. Gerard, E. I. Rivero Puente, and D. Six, "Coordination between transmission and distribution system operators in the electricity sector: A conceptual framework," *Util. Policy*, vol. 50, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jup.2017.09.011.
- [14] S. Y. Hadush and L. Meeus, "DSO-TSO cooperation issues and solutions for distribution grid congestion management," *Energy Policy*, vol. 120, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2018.05.065.
- [15] A. Vicente-Pastor, J. Nieto-Martin, D. W. Bunn, and A. Laur, "Evaluation of flexibility markets for retailer-dso-tso coordination," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 34, no. 3, 2019, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2018.2880123.

- [16] C. Edmunds, S. Galloway, I. Elders, W. Bukhsh, and R. Telford, "Design of a DSO-TSO balancing market coordination scheme for decentralised energy," *IET Gener. Transm. Distrib.*, vol. 14, no. 5, 2020, doi: 10.1049/iet-gtd.2019.0865.
- [17] T. Schittekatte and L. Meeus, "Flexibility markets: Q&A with project pioneers," *Util. Policy*, vol. 63, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.jup.2020.101017.
- [18] Z. Yuan and M. R. Hesamzadeh, "Hierarchical coordination of TSO-DSO economic dispatch considering large-scale integration of distributed energy resources," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 195, pp. 600–615, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.03.042.
- [19] H. Le Cadre, I. Mezghani, and A. Papavasiliou, "A game-theoretic analysis of transmissiondistribution system operator coordination," *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, vol. 274, no. 1, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2018.09.043.
- [20] P. S. Georgilakis and N. D. Hatziargyriou, "A review of power distribution planning in the modern power systems era: Models, methods and future research," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 121, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2014.12.010.
- [21] M. E. Baran and F. F. Wu, "Optimal sizing of capacitors placed on a radial distribution system," *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.*, vol. 4, no. 1, 1989, doi: 10.1109/61.19266.
- [22] A. M. Cossi, R. Romero, and J. R. S. Mantovani, "Planning and projects of secondary electric power distribution systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 24, no. 3, 2009, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2009.2021208.
- [23] V. Vahidinasab *et al.*, "Overview of Electric Energy Distribution Networks Expansion Planning," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 34750–34769, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2973455.
- [24] D. W. Bunn and J. Nieto-Martin, "The emergence of smart and flexible distribution systems," in *Lecture Notes in Energy*, vol. 79, 2020.
- [25] N. Ruiz, I. Cobelo, and J. Oyarzabal, "A direct load control model for virtual power plant management," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 24, no. 2, 2009, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2009.2016607.
- [26] J. Iria, F. Soares, and M. Matos, "Optimal bidding strategy for an aggregator of prosumers in energy and secondary reserve markets," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 238, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.01.191.
- [27] J. Zhao, C. Wan, Z. Xu, and J. Wang, "Risk-Based Day-Ahead Scheduling of Electric Vehicle Aggregator Using Information Gap Decision Theory," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 8, no. 4, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2015.2494371.
- [28] V. A. Evangelopoulos, I. I. Avramidis, and P. S. Georgilakis, "Flexibility Services Management under Uncertainties for Power Distribution Systems: Stochastic Scheduling and Predictive Real-Time Dispatch," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2975663.
- [29] C. L. T. Borges and V. F. Martins, "Multistage expansion planning for active distribution networks under demand and Distributed Generation uncertainties," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 36, no. 1, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2011.10.031.
- [30] K. Zou, A. P. Agalgaonkar, K. M. Muttaqi, and S. Perera, "Distribution system planning with incorporating DG reactive capability and system uncertainties," *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2012, doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2011.2166281.
- [31] G. Munoz-Delgado, J. Contreras, and J. M. Arroyo, "Multistage generation and network expansion planning in distribution systems considering uncertainty and reliability," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 31, no. 5, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2015.2503604.

- [32] M. Heleno, R. Soares, J. Sumaili, R. J. Bessa, L. Seca, and M. A. Matos, "Estimation of the flexibility range in the transmission-distribution boundary," 2015, doi: 10.1109/PTC.2015.7232524.
- [33] J. Silva *et al.*, "Estimating the Active and Reactive Power Flexibility Area at the TSO-DSO Interface," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 33, no. 5, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2018.2805765.
- [34] D. A. Contreras and K. Rudion, "Improved assessment of the flexibility range of distribution grids using linear optimisation," 2018, doi: 10.23919/PSCC.2018.8442858.
- [35] F. Capitanescu, "TSO–DSO interaction: Active distribution network power chart for TSO ancillary services provision," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 163, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2018.06.009.
- [36] S. Riaz and P. Mancarella, "On feasibility and flexibility operating regions of virtual power plants and TSO/DSO interfaces," 2019, doi: 10.1109/PTC.2019.8810638.
- [37] S. Stanković and L. Söder, "Probabilistic Reactive Power Capability Charts at DSO/TSO Interface," IEEE Trans. Smart Grid, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 3860–3870, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2020.2992569.
- [38] M. Kalantar-Neyestanaki, F. Sossan, M. Bozorg, and R. Cherkaoui, "Characterizing the Reserve Provision Capability Area of Active Distribution Networks: A Linear Robust Optimisation Method," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 11, no. 3, 2020, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2019.2956152.
- [39] Z. Tan, H. Zhong, Q. Xia, C. Kang, X. S. Wang, and H. Tang, "Estimating the Robust P-Q Capability of a Technical Virtual Power Plant under Uncertainties," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 35, no. 6, 2020, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2020.2988069.
- [40] S. Stanković, L. Söder, Z. Hagemann, and C. Rehtanz, "Reactive Power Support Adequacy at the DSO/TSO Interface," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 190, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2020.106661.
- [41] ENTSO-e, "Towards Smarter Grids: ENTSO-E Position Paper on Developing TSO and DSO Roles for the Benefit of Consumers." Mar. 2015, [Online]. Available: https://eepublicdownloads.entsoe.eu/clean-documents/Publications/Position papers and reports/150303_ENTSO-E_Position_Paper_TSO-DSO_interaction.pdf.
- [42] G. Muñoz-Delgado et al., "Transmission and Distribution System Expansion Planning Considering Network and Generation Investments under Uncertainty," in 2020 International Conference on Smart Energy Systems and Technologies (SEST), 2020, pp. 1–6, doi: 10.1109/SEST48500.2020.9203430.
- [43] J. Liu, P. P. Zeng, H. Xing, Y. Li, and Q. Wu, "Hierarchical duality-based planning of transmission networks coordinating active distribution network operation," *Energy*, vol. 213, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2020.118488.
- [44] A. Nikoobakht, J. Aghaei, H. R. Massrur, and R. Hemmati, "Decentralised hybrid robust/stochastic expansion planning in coordinated transmission and active distribution networks for hosting large-scale wind energy," *IET Gener. Transm. Distrib.*, vol. 14, no. 5, 2020, doi: 10.1049/iet-gtd.2019.0888.
- [45] Y. Zheng, D. J. Hill, and Z. Y. Dong, "Multi-Agent Optimal Allocation of Energy Storage Systems in Distribution Systems," *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1715–1725, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2017.2705838.
- [46] T. Qiu, B. Xu, Y. Wang, Y. Dvorkin, and D. S. Kirschen, "Stochastic Multistage Coplanning of Transmission Expansion and Energy Storage," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 643– 651, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2016.2553678.
- [47] N. Hatziargyriou, D. Skrlec, T. Capuder, P. Georgilakis, and M. Zidar, "Review of energy storage

allocation in power distribution networks: Applications, methods and future research," *IET Gener. Transm.* \& *Distrib.*, vol. 10, 2015, doi: 10.1049/iet-gtd.2015.0447.

- [48] H. Saber, H. Heidarabadi, M. Moeini-Aghtaie, H. Farzin, and M. R. Karimi, "Expansion Planning Studies of Independent-Locally Operated Battery Energy Storage Systems (BESSs): A CVaR-Based Study," *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 2109–2118, 2020, doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2019.2950591.
- [49] H. Alharbi and K. Bhattacharya, "Stochastic Optimal Planning of Battery Energy Storage Systems for Isolated Microgrids," *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 211–227, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2017.2724514.
- [50] H. Shin and J. Hur, "Optimal Energy Storage Sizing With Battery Augmentation for Renewable-Plus-Storage Power Plants," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 187730–187743, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3031197.
- [51] B. Xu *et al.*, "Scalable Planning for Energy Storage in Energy and Reserve Markets," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 4515–4527, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2017.2682790.
- [52] X. Luo, J. Wang, M. Dooner, and J. Clarke, "Overview of current development in electrical energy storage technologies and the application potential in power system operation," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 137, pp. 511–536, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.09.081.
- I. Alsaidan, A. Khodaei, and W. Gao, "A Comprehensive Battery Energy Storage Optimal Sizing Model for Microgrid Applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 3968–3980, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2017.2769639.
- [54] H. Sun, Q. Guo, B. Zhang, Y. Guo, Z. Li, and J. Wang, "Master–Slave-Splitting Based Distributed Global Power Flow Method for Integrated Transmission and Distribution Analysis," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 1484–1492, 2015, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2014.2336810.
- [55] Z. Li, Q. Guo, H. Sun, and J. Wang, "Coordinated Economic Dispatch of Coupled Transmission and Distribution Systems Using Heterogeneous Decomposition," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 4817–4830, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2016.2515578.
- [56] A. Kargarian and Y. Fu, "System of Systems Based Security-Constrained Unit Commitment Incorporating Active Distribution Grids," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 2489–2498, 2014, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2014.2307863.
- [57] J. Silva *et al.*, "Estimating the Active and Reactive Power Flexibility Area at the TSO-DSO Interface," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 4741–4750, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2018.2805765.
- [58] J. Xiao, Z. Zhang, L. Bai, and H. Liang, "Determination of the optimal installation site and capacity of battery energy storage system in distribution network integrated with distributed generation," *IET Gener. Transm.* \& *Distrib.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 601–607, 2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2015.0130.
- [59] Y. J. A. Zhang, C. Zhao, W. Tang, and S. H. Low, "Profit-Maximizing Planning and Control of Battery Energy Storage Systems for Primary Frequency Control," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 712–723, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2016.2562672.
- [60] M. Motalleb, E. Reihani, and R. Ghorbani, "Optimal placement and sizing of the storage supporting transmission and distribution networks," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 94, pp. 651–659, 2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2016.03.101.
- [61] S. Massucco, P. Pongiglione, F. Silvestro, M. Paolone, and F. Sossan, "Siting and Sizing of Energy



Storage Systems: Towards a Unified Approach for Transmission and Distribution System Operators for Reserve Provision and Grid Support," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 190, p. 106660, 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsr.2020.106660.

- [62] M. Coppo, F. Bignucolo, and R. Turri, "Sliding time windows assessment of storage systems capability for providing ancillary services to transmission and distribution grids," *Sustain. Energy, Grids Networks*, vol. 26, p. 100467, 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.segan.2021.100467.
- [63] H. Pandžić, I. Kuzle, and T. Capuder, "Virtual power plant mid-term dispatch optimisation," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 101, pp. 134–141, 2013, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.05.039.
- [64] H. Shin and J. H. Roh, "Framework for Sizing of Energy Storage System Supplementing Photovoltaic Generation in Consideration of Battery Degradation," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 60246–60258, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2977985.
- [65] B. Xu, A. Oudalov, A. Ulbig, G. Andersson, and D. S. Kirschen, "Modeling of Lithium-Ion Battery Degradation for Cell Life Assessment," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 1131–1140, 2018, doi: 10.1109/TSG.2016.2578950.
- [66] Z. Hu, F. Zhang, and B. Li, "Transmission expansion planning considering the deployment of energy storage systems," in 2012 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting, 2012, pp. 1– 6, doi: 10.1109/PESGM.2012.6344575.
- [67] F. Zhang, Z. Hu, and Y. Song, "Mixed-integer linear model for transmission expansion planning with line losses and energy storage systems," *Gener. Transm.* & *Distrib. IET*, vol. 7, pp. 919–928, 2013, doi: 10.1049/iet-gtd.2012.0666.
- [68] M. Hedayati, J. Zhang, and K. W. Hedman, "Joint transmission expansion planning and energy storage placement in smart grid towards efficient integration of renewable energy," in 2014 IEEE PES T D Conference and Exposition, 2014, pp. 1–5, doi: 10.1109/TDC.2014.6863213.
- [69] I. Konstantelos and G. Strbac, "Valuation of Flexible Transmission Investment Options Under Uncertainty," IEEE Trans. Power Syst., vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 1047–1055, 2015, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2014.2363364.
- [70] J. Iria, P. Scott, and A. Attarha, "Network-constrained bidding optimisation strategy for aggregators of prosumers," *Energy*, vol. 207, p. 118266, 2020, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2020.118266.
- [71] E. A. Martínez Ceseña and P. Mancarella, "Practical recursive algorithms and flexible opensource applications for planning of smart distribution networks with Demand Response," *Sustain. Energy, Grids Networks*, vol. 7, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.segan.2016.06.004.
- [72] J. Hope, "Strategy decision for the RIIO-ED1 electricity distribution price control, Reliability and safety, Supplementary annex to RIIO-ED1 overview paper," *Ofgem*, 2013.
- [73] M. L. Bynum *et al., Pyomo--optimisation modeling in Python*, Third., vol. 67. Springer Science \& Business Media, 2021.
- [74] W. E. Hart, J. P. Watson, and D. L. Woodruff, "Pyomo: Modeling and solving mathematical programs in Python," *Math. Program. Comput.*, vol. 3, no. 3, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s12532-011-0026-8.
- [75] A. Wáchter, L. Biegler, A. Wächter, and L. Biegler, "On the implementation of an interior-point filter line-search algorithm for large-scale nonlinear programming," *Math. Program.*, no. 106, pp. 25–57, 2006.

9. Annex

9.1. Annex 1 | Examples for data inputs

The text of the case format is presented here with more detail (although truncated to save space). It can be read as a MATPOWER file. Note that the same format is used for both transmission and distribution networks.

```
function mpc = Transmission_Network_PT_2020
%% MATPOWER Case Format : Version 2
mpc.version = '2';
%%----- Power Flow Data -----%%
%% system MVA base
mpc.baseMVA = 100;
%% bus data
% bus i type Pd Qd Gs Bs area Vm Va baseKV zone Vmax Vmin
mpc.bus = [
 1 2 0.000 0.000 0 0 1 1 0 4001 1.05 0.95 ;
 2 2 0.000 0.000 0 0 1 1 0 4001 1.05 0.95 ;
 303 1 0.000 0.000 0 0 1 1 0 63 2 1.05 0.95 ;
 304 1 0.000 0.000 0 0 1 1 0 63 2 1.05 0.95 ;
];
%% generator data
% bus Pg Qg Qmax Qmin Vg mBase status Pmax Pmin Pc1Pc2Qc1min Qc1max Qc2min Qc2max
ramp_agc ramp_10 ramp_30 ramp_q apf
mpc.gen = [
 1 253.567-38.483 9999.000 -9999.000 1.0431 100.00 1 9999.000 -9999.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0000;
...
22 0.000 0.000 23.063 -23.063 1.0307 62.10 0 57.658 0.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ;
 30 31.000 1.512 15.500 -12.400 1.0349 34.66 1 31.000 15.500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ;
00000000000;
 293 0.000 0.000 10.000 -10.000 1.0122 26.93 0 25.000 0.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ;
];
%% gen tags
% Generation Technology Type:
% CWS (Connection with Spain),
% FOG (Fossil Gas),
% FHC (Fossil Hard Coal),
% HWR (Hydro Water Reservoir),
% HPS (Hydro Pumped Storage),
```

WP3

<pre>% HRP (Hydro Kun-of-river and poundage), % SH1 (Small Hydro - P ≤ 10 MW), % SH3 (Small Hydro - 10 MW < P ≤ 30 MW), % PVP (Photovoltaic power plant), % WON (Wind onshore), % WOF (Wind offshore), % MAR (Marine), % OTH (Other thermal, such as geothermal, biomass, biogas, Municipal solid waste and CHP renewable and non-renewable) % genType mpc.gen_tags = { 'CWS'; 'CWS'; 'CWS'; 'CWS'; 'CWS'; 'CWS'; 'PVP'; 'PVP'; 'HWR'; 'HWR'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'WON'; 'SH3'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'OTH'; 'WON'; 'SH1'; 'PVP'; 'OTH'; 'OTH'; 'OTH'; 'PVP'; 'OTH'; 'SH1'; 'PVP'; 'OTH'; 'WON'; 'SH3'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'HRP'; 'HPS'; ' 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HRP'; 'HWR'; 'HWR'; 'FHC'; 'FHC'; 'FHC'; 'FHC'; 'FHC'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'FOG'; 'OTH'; 'WON'; 'WO</pre>
%% branch data
% If the 'step_size', 'actTap', 'minTap', 'maxTap' and 'normalTap' fields are equal to "-1", it means that the transformer does not have tap changing capability % If the length is equal to "0", it means that the correspondent branch represents a transformer % fbus tbus r x b rateA (summer) rateB (spring) rateC (winter) tap ratio shift angle status angmin angmax step_size actTap minTap maxTap normalTap length (km) mac branch = [
8 24 0.02945 0.09879 0.03302 91 123 130 0 0 -360 360 0 0 0 54.0 ; 8 176 0.02007 0.06867 0.02205 96 104 104 0 1 -360 360 101 158 0.00153 0.09299 0.00000 170 170 1.0083333333 0 1 -360 360 0.0042 15 1 25 13 0<;
end

9.2. Annex 2 | Examples for flexibility data format

The text of the flexibility data format is presented here with more detail (although truncated to save space). It can be read as a MATPOWER file.

function mpc = flexibility_data_UK_2020(mpc)							
%% flexibility connection data mpc.flex.flexbus = [2; % bus number where flexibility services are available 4;];							
%% flexibility profile mode mpc.flex.flexprof = [% Mode % time interval: %3 = representative business day for a season %Fraction of an hour, 3 1;];							
%% Active upwa % time (hourly) mpc.flex.PFMax_ % 1 0.439283 0.871791];	rds flexibility dat _UP = [2 0.063231 0.11562	ta 3 0.930325 0.456429	 	23 0.934726 0.561145	24 0.434099 0.944855	% hour ; % bus 2 ; % bus 4	
%% Active down % time (hourly) mpc.flex.PFMax_ % 1 0.439283 0.871791];	wards flexibility _DN = [2 0.063231 0.11562	data 3 0.930325 0.456429	 	23 0.934726 0.561145	24 0.434099 0.944855	% hour ; % bus 2 ; % bus 4	
%% Reactive upv % time (hourly) mpc.flex.QFMax % 1 0.439283 0.871791];	wards flexibility o UP = [2 0.063231 0.11562	data 3 0.930325 0.456429	 	23 0.934726 0.561145	24 0.434099 0.944855	% hour ; % bus 2 ; % bus 4	
%% Reactive downwards flexibility data % time (hourly) mpc.flex.QFMax_DN = [% 1 2 3 23 24 % hour							

SPECIFICATIONS OF THE PLANNING TOOLS

WP3

0.439283 0.871791];	0.063 0.115	2231 0.9 662 0.4	930325 156429		0.93 0.56	4726 1145	0.43 0.94	4099 4855	, , ,		% bus 2 % bus 4
]; %% Flexibility cost data % 1 n x1 y1 xn yn % 2 n c(n-1) c0 % 3 - w1 w2 w24 % 4 - ω mpc.flex.flexcost = [
%Model	%NCOST	%COST_PR	%COST_QR	%COST	r_PF		%COST	_QF			
		_	_	%1		24	%1		24		%hour
3	0	100	10	0.95		0.68	0.13		0.07	;	%bus2
4	0	100	10	0.58	;						%bus4
];											
end											

9.3. Annex 3 | Data inputs and outputs for each stage of T3.2

The detailed technical input data for each stage of the T3.2 is shown in Table 11, Table 12 and Table 13.

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generation	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
data	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Network	Bus data	-		MATPOWER
data	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWER
Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)		MATPOWER
	Demand curtailment cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
	Unit cost for upgrading transmission lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Asset- solutions	Unit cost for installing new transmission lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Unit cost for installing new transformers	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER

TABLE 11: INPUTS FOR STAGE 1 OF T3.2

TABLE 12: INPUTS FOR STAGE 2 OF T3.2

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generation data	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Notwork data	Bus data	-		MATPOWER
NELWORK GALA	Branch data	-	Ω	MATPOWER
Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Demand curtailment cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Asset- solutions	Unit cost for upgrading transmission lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json

	Unit cost for installing new transmission lines	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Unit cost for installing new transformers	-	€	MATPOWER/txt /json
Non-asset solutions	Flexibility service profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Investment decisions	Transmission line reinforcement	Recommended investment planning horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years	-	MATPOWER/txt /json
	Transformer reinforcement	Recommended investment planning horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years	-	MATPOWER/txt /json

TABLE 13: INPUTS FOR STAGE 3 OF T3.2

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Generation data	Generation capacities	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Generation unit cost	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Network	Bus data	-		MATPOWER
data	Branch data	-		MATPOWER
Demand data	Demand profiles	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, MVAr	MATPOWER
	Demand curtailment cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
	Flexibility service cost	-	€/MW, €/MVAr	MATPOWER
Investment decisions	Transmission line	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
	New transmission	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	line construction	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
	Transformer	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json

The detailed technical output data from each stage of the T3.2 is shown in Table 14, Table 15 and Table 16.

TABLE 14: OUTPUTS OF STAGE 1 OF T3.2

Data		Түре	Units	Format
	Transmission line	Recommended investment planning	MW	MATPOWER/txt
Investment	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
decisions	Transformer	Recommended investment planning	MW	MATPOWER/txt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json

TABLE 15: OUTPUTS OF STAGE 2 OF T3.2

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Investment decisions	Transmission line	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
	New transmission line	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	construction	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
	Transformer	Recommended investment planning	-	MATPOWER/txt
	reinforcement	horizon, e.g., throughout 20 years		/json
Costs	Investment cost		€	MATPOWER/txt
		-		/json
	Generation cost		€	MATPOWER/txt
		-		/json
	Penalty cost		€	MATPOWER/txt
		-		/json
	Flexibility service cost		€	MATPOWER/txt
		-		/json

TABLE 16: OUTPUTS OF STAGE 3 OF T3.2

Data		Түре	Units	Format
Network	Parameters to update binding constraints	Single value for each iteration	-	HDF5
Energy profile	Load curtailment	Representative days (24 hours) for different scenarios (weekday, weekend, summer and winter)	MW, €/MVAr	HDF5
Demand data	Generation cost	-	€	HDF5
	Flexibility service cost	-	€	HDF5